RECEIVED

Jan 30 2024

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM YORK COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
J. Mark Hayes, II, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2019-CP-46-00051

Appellate Case No. 2023-001103

Daniel P. Cedrone and Poly-Tech Industrial, Inc., Respondents,

v.

Composite Resources, Inc., Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JOHN B. WHITE, JR., P.A.

John B. White, Jr. (S.C. Bar No. 5996)
Marghretta H. Shisko (S.C. Bar No. 100106)
Griffin L. Lynch (S.C. Bar No. 72518)
Christopher R. Jones (S.C. Bar No. 101265)
291 S. Pine Street
P.O. Box 2465 (29304)
Spartanburg, SC 29302
(864) 594-5988
jwhite@johnbwhitelaw.com
mshisko@johnbwhitelaw.com

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

1. Did the trial court err by concluding that, as a matter of law, the only reasonable interpretation of the parties' agreement is that CRI was and is obligated to pay account commissions to Poly-Tech for as long as CRI makes and sells the product, even if the product account no longer exists and the project is over?

2. Did the trial court err by concluding that its interpretation of the parties' contract as unambiguously requiring CRI to pay account commissions to Poly-Tech for as long as CRI makes and sells the product was supported by extrinsic evidence in the record?

3. Did the trial court err by finding that CRI was and is obligated to continue paying Poly-Tech commissions without addressing CRI's defenses and counterclaims?

4. Did the trial court's interpretation of the parties' contract render CRI's commission obligation perpetual, with no objective triggering event, and thus unenforceable?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an interlocutory appeal from a grant of partial summary judgment in a business court case involving a contract dispute over whether commissions are still owed for an account that no longer exists. In June 2001, Respondent Poly-Tech Industrial, Inc. (“Poly-Tech”¹) and Appellant Composite Resources, Inc. (“CRI”) entered into a Sales Representative Agreement, under which Poly-Tech would receive commissions for accounts that it brought to CRI for CRI to manufacture products. (R. pp. 887, 889–90).

In June 2005, CRI and Poly-Tech agreed to amend their 2001 contract to include two “special accounts” and to provide CRI with protections against any competition or conflicts of interest from Poly-Tech. (R. pp. 530–40, 887, 889–90). One of the special accounts was the “Phil Durango L.L.C.” account. (R. p. 540). In exchange for Poly-Tech convincing Phil Durango LLC to use CRI to assemble and mass produce its product (the “Combat Application Tourniquet,” or “C-A-T”) and for Poly-Tech managing the Phil Durango LLC relationship, CRI agreed to pay Poly-Tech a commission for the “Phil Durango L.L.C.” account based on sales of the C-A-T. (R. pp. 48, 517). Under the “Phil Durango L.L.C.” account section of the 2005 Agreement (“Annex C”), the parties agreed that: “Commission for this account is to continue if for any reason the regular contract is discontinued and paid to the estate of Daniel P. Cedrone for as long as project continues.” (R. p. 540).

Several years later, in November 2014, CRI purchased the C-A-T intellectual property from Phil Durango LLC for \$11 million. (R. pp. 587, 752). After that, CRI’s Phil Durango LLC account ceased to exist and CRI stopped assembling the C-A-T for Phil Durango LLC. (R. p. 587). Additionally, after selling the intellectual property, Phil Durango LLC was dissolved by its owner

¹ CRI will refer to both Respondents collectively as “Poly-Tech.” CRI will refer to Respondent Dan Cedrone separately as appropriate.

in October 2016. (R. p. 587).

In August 2018, CRI terminated the entire 2005 Agreement and ceased paying Poly-Tech commissions for all accounts, including commissions for the Phil Durango LLC account. (R. p. 541). Then, on January 7, 2019, Poly-Tech and its sole shareholder, Dan Cedrone, sued CRI for unpaid commissions for the Phil Durango LLC account. (R. pp. 44–62). Poly-Tech alleged claims for, *inter alia*, breach of contract, breach of contract accompanied by fraud, violation of the Sales Representative Act,² and conversion.³ (R. pp. 51–61). Poly-Tech sought \$2,032,165 in unpaid commissions through August 2018 and \$6,093,495 in punitive damages. (R. p. 55). Poly-Tech also sought a declaratory judgment that: (1) Cedrone was a third-party beneficiary to the 2005 Agreement; (2) the term “project” in Annex C means “the provision of [the C-A-T] by or through the efforts of [CRI],” and (3) the “perpetual obligations under Annex C of the contract survive the termination of the sales representative relationship.” (R. pp. 59–61).

CRI answered, denying that Poly-Tech was entitled to recover any unpaid commissions under Annex C of the Agreement because from the time that CRI had acquired the C-A-T intellectual property from Phil Durango LLC (and since Phil Durango LLC no longer even existed), there had been no sales—and thus no commissions owed—for that account. (R. p. 77). CRI also asserted the affirmative defense of prior breach, as well as a counterclaim for breach of the non-compete, no-conflict-of-interest, and nondisclosure provisions of the 2005 Agreement (including the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing) resulting from Poly-Tech’s development and marketing of a competing tourniquet called the HALO—while collecting \$7

² S.C. Code Ann. §§ 39-65-10 to -80.

³ The trial court granted CRI’s motions for summary judgment on Poly-Tech’s Sales Representative Act and conversion claims. CRI’s motion for summary judgment on Poly-Tech’s breach of contract accompanied by fraud claim is still pending as of the date of this filing.

million in commissions—prior to CRI’s August 2018 termination of the 2005 Agreement. (R. p. 84).

On March 18, 2022, Poly-Tech filed a “Motion for Partial Summary Judgment as to Unambiguous Material Terms” (the “MPSJ”) in which it argued that Annex C unambiguously and as a matter of law required CRI to pay Poly-Tech commissions on sales of the C-A-T “for as long as the project continues,” and that “project” simply meant the “sale of tourniquets by [CRI].” (R. p. 516). Poly-Tech did not ask the trial court to interpret or give effect to Annex C’s predicate phrase “[c]ommission for this account,” referring to “Phil Durango L.L.C.” Poly-Tech and Cedrone did not acknowledge the phrase in their motion.

Poly-Tech also submitted extrinsic evidence in the form of the 2021 deposition testimony of Lisa Bennett, who is now the ex-wife of CRI’s President, Jonathan Bennett, but who was CRI’s “operations director” when the 2005 Agreement was executed. (R. pp. 519–20, 542–45). During her deposition, which was ten years after her divorce from Jonathan Bennett and her departure from CRI, Lisa Bennett testified that in 2005 she had considered the commission obligation “to be as long as the tourniquets were in production.” (R. pp. 519–20, 542–45).

CRI’s response to the MPSJ argued that: (1) Poly-Tech’s interpretation of the 2005 Agreement rendered the commission obligation “perpetual,” and thus unenforceable; (2) Poly-Tech’s reliance on extrinsic evidence fatally undermined any argument that the contract terms were unambiguous; and (3) the terms *were* ambiguous, thus foreclosing summary judgment. (R. p. 570). CRI also contended that: (1) “[i]n November 2014, CRI purchased the CAT Tourniquet patents from Phil Durango, LLC and Phil Durango, LLC ceased to be a customer account at CRI”; and (2) in 2016, Phil Durango LLC was dissolved. (R. p. 587–89).

CRI also submitted evidence demonstrating that, as of March 2018, Poly-Tech and

Cedrone were conspiring with two other individuals, William Carson and William Cannon, to develop and patent a competing tourniquet called the HALO, thus breaching multiple provisions of the 2005 Agreement, even though they continued to accept millions of dollars in C-A-T commissions. (R. pp. 576, 591–626). CRI filed additional excerpts from Lisa Bennett’s deposition testimony where she testified that: (1) “if Poly-Tech or Dan Cedrone developed a competing tourniquet that would be a breach of this agreement”; and (2) the 2005 Agreement had *not* been “drafted in a sense that it could never be terminated by [CRI].” (R. pp. 582–83, 628–41).

The trial court conducted the summary judgment hearing in two parts, after which it continued the hearing and permitted the parties to submit additional briefing. In its supplemental brief, CRI argued that Annex C was fatally indefinite and unenforceable because it contained so many undefined terms, and CRI also maintained its alternative position that Annex C was ambiguous. (R. pp. 655, 660).

On June 8, 2022, the trial court issued an e-mail ruling (the “E-mail Ruling”), determining that, as a matter of law, the provision “for as long as the project continues” unambiguously means that CRI “is contractually obligated to pay plaintiffs the amounts reflect[ed] in the contract on page 11 of 11 [(Annex C)] past the termination date.” (R. p. 827). The E-mail Ruling referenced Lisa Bennett’s extrinsic testimony, but it emphasized that “no inference should be drawn that the contested material terms were ambiguous and needed further factual development.” (R. p. 828). The trial court did not address the “Phil Durango L.L.C.” account or the fact that any commissions must be “for this account,” meaning for Phil Durango L.L.C. Nor did the trial court expressly interpret “project,” or address whether “project” must be interpreted within the context of Phil Durango LLC’s involvement. The trial court also did not address CRI’s evidence of Poly-Tech’s competition, conflict of interest, and disclosure of confidential information arising out of their

development and marketing of the HALO.

The trial court instructed Poly-Tech to prepare a proposed order, to “be edited and revised once received.” (R. p. 828). On August 31, 2022, Poly-Tech submitted a 19-page proposed order that included findings that CRI “*was and is*” contractually obligated to pay Plaintiffs commissions, “including *after termination* of the sales representative relationship” and “*after the date of this Order.*” (R. pp. 27–28, 825) (emphasis added). Poly-Tech’s proposed order also stated that “the uncontroverted external evidence . . . eliminates the possibility of a genuine issue of material fact,” and that “Defendant filed no counter evidence with its filings in opposition to the Motion.” (R. pp. 982, 993). In fact, however, CRI had filed 55 pages of “counter evidence,” detailed further below. (R. pp. 587–89, 598–641).

On September 29, 2022, the trial court signed Poly-Tech’s proposed order without first making any edits or revisions (the “September 29 Order”). The September 29 Order included language that appeared to fix CRI’s liability—i.e., “as a matter of law, for as long as [CRI] is associated with the making and selling of C-A-T Tourniquets,” CRI “was and is obligated to pay Plaintiffs \$1.75 per [Combat] [T]ourniquet sold,” “for which this amount has not already been paid, and for all [tourniquets] sold in the future.” (R. pp. 27, 38).

On October 10, 2022, CRI timely filed a motion to reconsider, clarify, alter, or amend the September 29 Order (the “Motion to Reconsider”). CRI raised numerous grounds, including:

- asking the trial court whether it had intended to fix CRI’s liability, and to clarify the September 29 Order accordingly;
- asking the trial court whether it had intended to reject CRI’s defenses and counterclaims and—assuming not, since Poly-Tech had not moved for summary judgment on them—to further clarify the September 29 Order to reflect as such;
- asking the trial court to correct the misstatements in the September 29 Order that CRI had (1) filed no “counter evidence” and (2) not argued that the 2005

Agreement was ambiguous;

- asking the trial court to clarify whether it had interpreted Poly-Tech’s motion as arguing in the alternative that the extrinsic evidence entitled them to summary judgment and, if so, whether the trial court’s summary judgment was alternatively based on extrinsic evidence; and
- asking the trial court to reconsider its interpretation of Annex C because it (1) failed to give effect to the phrase “commission for this account”—account being “Phil Durango L.L.C.”—and (2) ignored that in 2005, the “project” was CRI assembling and manufacturing C-A-T tourniquets on behalf of Phil Durango LLC, with Poly-Tech being paid a commission for convincing Phil Durango LLC to use CRI to assemble and mass-produce the C-A-T.

(R. pp. 688–717).

On November 4, 2022, while the Motion to Reconsider was pending, CRI’s counsel deposed Cedrone. (R. pp. 864). On November 15, 2022, CRI supplemented its Motion to Reconsider (the “Supplement”) with Cedrone’s deposition testimony relating to the Annex C terms “account” and “project.” (R. pp. 839–62).

On June 8, 2023, the trial court signed an order denying the Motion to Reconsider and clarifying the September 29 Order “to reserve to the jury the question of how to calculate commissions due and raw material payments due.” The June 8 Order further provided:

To the extent paragraph 1, at the bottom of page 18, and paragraph 2, at the top of page 19 [of the September 29 Order], impose, or can be read as imposing, a mandatory calculation formula, that language and/or conclusion is stricken.

(R. pp. 41–42). In other words, the June 8 Order merely deleted the dollar amounts for commissions and payments due, but it did not correct or clarify any of the points CRI raised in its Motion to Reconsider. (R. pp. 41–42). On July 7, 2023, CRI timely filed its notice of appeal. (R. pp. 975–1001).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“[S]ummary judgment is a drastic remedy which should be cautiously invoked so no person will be improperly deprived of a trial of the disputed factual issues.” *Redwend Ltd. P’ship v. Edwards*, 354 S.C. 459, 468, 581 S.E.2d 496, 501 (Ct. App. 2003). In reviewing a grant of summary judgment, this Court applies the same standard as the trial court under Rule 56(c), SCRPC, viewing the facts in the light most favorable to the non-moving party and drawing all reasonable inferences in its favor. *See Gibson v. Epting*, 426 S.C. 346, 350, 827 S.E.2d 178, 180 (Ct. App. 2019). The moving party is entitled to summary judgment only if “there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and . . . the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law.” Rule 56(c), SCRPC.

“The trial court must deny such a motion when the evidence yields more than one inference or its inference is in doubt. If the evidence as a whole is susceptible to more than one reasonable inference, a jury issue is created and the motion should be denied.” *Ecclesiastes Prod. Ministries v. Outparcel Assocs., LLC*, 374 S.C. 483, 489, 649 S.E.2d 494, 497 (Ct. App. 2007) (citations omitted); *Vaughan v. Town of Lyman*, 370 S.C. 436, 448, 635 S.E.2d 631, 638 (2006) (reversing an award of summary judgment and stating “the evidence is susceptible to more than one reasonable inference, and therefore should be submitted to the jury”); *Russell v. Wachovia Bank, N.A.*, 353 S.C. 208, 219 n.4, 578 S.E.2d 329, 334 n.4 (2003) (“The standard for summary judgment ‘mirrors the standard for a directed verdict under Rule 50(a)’ [SCRPC].”). “Even when there is no dispute as to evidentiary facts, but only as to the conclusions or inferences to be drawn from them, summary judgment should be denied.” *Redwend Ltd. P’ship*, 354 S.C. at 468, 581 S.E.2d at 501.

Whether the language of a contract is ambiguous is a question of law for the court. *Auten v. Snipes*, 370 S.C. 664, 669, 636 S.E.2d 644, 646 (Ct. App. 2006). A contract is ambiguous when the terms of the contract are reasonably susceptible to more than one interpretation. *S.C. Dep’t of*

Nat. Res. v. Town of McClellanville, 345 S.C. 617, 623, 550 S.E.2d 299, 302 (2001); *Davis v. Davis*, 372 S.C. 64, 76, 641 S.E.2d 446, 452 (Ct. App. 2006); *Miller v. Blumenthal Mills, Inc.*, 365 S.C. 204, 219, 616 S.E.2d 722, 729 (Ct. App. 2005) (“On appeal from an order granting summary judgment, the appellate court will review *all ambiguities*, conclusions, and inferences arising in and from the evidence in a light most favorable to the non-moving party below.” (emphasis added)).

Uncertainty in interpretation can arise from the words of the instrument, or in the application of the words to the object they describe. *Hann v. Carolina Cas. Ins. Co.*, 252 S.C. 518, 524, 167 S.E.2d 420, 422 (1969). Whether a contract is ambiguous must be determined from the entire contract and not from any isolated clause of the agreement. *Farr v. Duke Power Co.*, 265 S.C. 356, 362, 218 S.E.2d 431, 433 (1975); *cf. Pee Dee Stores, Inc. v. Doyle*, 381 S.C. 234, 242, 672 S.E.2d 799, 803 (Ct. App. 2009) (“In the matter presently before the Court, an ambiguity exists in the Settlement Agreement regarding the definition and scope of ‘landlord/tenant claims.’ The term ‘landlord/tenant claims’ is reasonably susceptible to more than one interpretation, and therefore, summary judgment was inappropriate.”).

The construction of a clear and unambiguous contract is a question of law. *Gardner v. Mazingo*, 293 S.C. 23, 25, 358 S.E.2d 390, 392 (1987). However, courts are “not at liberty” to “strain to determine the parties’ intention.” *Pee Dee Stores*, 381 S.C. at 245, 672 S.E.2d at 804 (“Thus, the parties’ intention is a question of fact to be ascertained by the trier of fact. To ascertain the parties’ intent, the trier of fact must look at the language of the Settlement Agreement, the circumstances known to the parties at the time, and all other pertinent extrinsic evidence.”). “When the contract’s language is unambiguous it must be given its plain and ordinary meaning and the court may not look to extrinsic evidence to interpret its provisions.” *Pres. Capital Consultants*,

LLC v. First Am. Title Ins. Co., 406 S.C. 309, 320, 751 S.E.2d 256, 261 (2013) (quoting *Stevens Aviation, Inc. v. DynCorp Int'l LLC*, 394 S.C. 300, 307, 715 S.E.2d 655, 659 (Ct. App. 2011)).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

I. The Parties and the C-A-T

Phil Durango LLC was an entity created by a former military battlefield medic named Mark Esposito to develop and patent the C-A-T. (R. p. 47). The C-A-T is a highly effective tourniquet used by various military, law enforcement, and emergency response organizations, including the U.S. Department of Defense (“DOD”) and NATO. (R. p. 516). The C-A-T is unique in that it is designed to be applied and tightened with one hand, using a winding component called a windlass, shown here:



CRI is a Rock Hill corporation that manufactures and sells the C-A-T. (R. p. 46). CRI sells the C-A-T primarily through its DOD distributor North American Rescue (“NAR”), located in Greenville County. Jonathan Bennett is CRI’s President and owner. (R. pp. 53–54).

At the time of the events giving rise to this action, Poly-Tech was a North Carolina corporation engaged in plastics manufacturing and metal fabrication, and Dan Cedrone was Poly-Tech’s sole shareholder. (R. p. 46).

In or around 2004, Mark Esposito found and contacted Cedrone over the internet to consult with him regarding purchasing raw materials for a prototype version of the C-A-T. (R. p. 47). Esposito had already formed Phil Durango LLC, through which he had invented, developed, and

patented the C-A-T. (R. p. 47).

Esposito wanted to mass-produce the C-A-T and sell it. (R. p. 47). Cedrone—through Poly-Tech’s already-existing sales representative relationship with CRI, memorialized in a 2001 contract—knew that CRI had the capability to do that, and that Poly-Tech did not. (R. pp. 48, 516–17, 883, 897).

For years, Poly-Tech had been selling CRI’s manufacturing and design capabilities to potential customers who had products in development but needed additional support to achieve commercialization. (R. p. 880). If Poly-Tech brought a company to CRI and CRI reached an agreement whereby it would manufacture or design a product for that company, then that company would become an “account” for CRI, and Poly-Tech would get a commission for that CRI “account.” (R. p. 880).

Cedrone convinced Esposito to have Phil Durango LLC use CRI to assemble and mass produce the C-A-T, and Phil Durango LLC became a CRI account. (R. pp. 48, 883). In return, CRI agreed to pay Poly-Tech a commission from CRI’s revenues generated from C-A-T sales for Phil Durango LLC. (R. pp. 48, 883).

II. The 2005 Agreement

In 2005, Cedrone needed a bank loan to finance the construction of a new building. To secure financing from the bank, Cedrone needed proof of Poly-Tech’s entitlement to commissions from CRI on C-A-T sales for Phil Durango, LLC. To accommodate Cedrone, Bennett agreed to amend their 2001 Sales Representative Agreement by entering into the 2005 Agreement. (R. pp. 887–88). Under the 2005 Agreement, Poly-Tech was appointed CRI’s non-exclusive sales representative, and CRI agreed to pay Poly-Tech “Commissions,” defined in Annex C to the 2005 Agreement. (R. p. 530). Annex C is divided into Subsections A, B, and C. (R. pp. 539–40).

Subsections A and B govern Poly-Tech’s commissions on CRI’s accounts generally.

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