RECEIVED

Jan 18 2024

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM YORK COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
J. Mark Hayes, II, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2019-CP-46-00051

Appellate Case No. 2023-001103

Daniel P. Cedrone and Poly-Tech Industrial, Inc., Respondents,

v.

Composite Resources, Inc., Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

RIMÔN P.C.

Keith D. Munson
S.C. Bar No. 13400
Rimôn Law
220 North Main Street, Suite 500
Greenville, SC 29601
Tel: (864) 420-3426
Fax: (864) 249-7111
keith.munson@rimonlaw.com

WOMBLE BOND DICKINSON

Michael Montecalvo
Womble Bond Dickinson (US) LLP
One West Fourth Street
Winston-Salem, NC 27101
Tel: (336) 721-3770

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

ARGUMENT

Nothing in the Business Court’s September 29, 2022 Order Granting Plaintiffs’ Motion for Partial Summary Judgment or the Order denying reconsideration (collectively the “**Order**” or “**Bus. Ct. PSJ Or.**”) is controversial. That a contract must first be interpreted as a matter of law by the trial court is a fundamental staple of American commercial jurisprudence, as sound as the rule of law itself (which uses a similar standard in the interpretation of statutes). For example, the United States Supreme Court observed in *Travelers Indem. Co. v. Bailey*:

If it is black-letter law that the terms of an unambiguous private contract must be enforced irrespective of the parties' subjective intent, see 11 R. Lord, Williston on Contracts § 30:4 (4th ed.1999), it is all the clearer that a court should enforce a court order, a public governmental act, according to its unambiguous terms. This is all the Bankruptcy Court did.

557 U.S. 137, 150–51, 129 S. Ct. 2195, 2204, 174 L. Ed. 2d 99 (2009). The Order is also not unexpected. On November 16, 2021, Appellant submitted a proposed Consent Scheduling Order, which expressly provided “...under South Carolina law, [a] court should first consider whether, as a matter of law, the contract is ambiguous or unambiguous on its face. Any party may move the court at any time for any order construing the ambiguity/non-ambiguity of the Contract ... as a matter of law by way of a motion of partial summary judgment as to contract interpretation.” (internal citation omitted). [R. p. 15, Consent Sched. Or. ¶ 4].

The Order under appeal focused on two tasks required as a matter of law: (1) determination that the long-standing 2005 Agreement is unambiguous regarding the operative provision at issue in the litigation; and (2) application of those unambiguous terms of the agreement. Sections I and II of the argument below will address the issues properly before the court under this appeal. Section III will address the inappropriate red-herrings interjected by

Appellant, such as the mounds of extrinsic information regarding another product that did not even exist until more than a decade after the execution of the 2005 Agreement.

I. Business Court Judge Hayes correctly determined that the operable provisions of the long-standing 2005 Sales Representative Agreement at issue are unambiguous.

To establish a breach of contract, a plaintiff need only establish the existence of a contract, a breach of the duty imposed upon defendant under the contract, and resulting damages. Appellant has admitted the 2005 Agreement was executed and “speaks for itself.” [R. p. 75, Am. Answer ¶ 3]. The provision that was breached simply provides for a “[c]ommission rate of \$1.75 per tourniquet sold” and raw material sourcing payment, with the payments to continue “for as long as the project continues” even if the contract terminated or if Dan Cedrone were to pass away before the project ended. See R. p. 74, 2005 Agreement, p. 11. Specifically, the tourniquet special provisions provide for:

- Poly-Tech to receive a commission of \$1.75 per Combat Tourniquet sold by Composite Resources, irrespective of whether Poly-Tech serves as the Sales Representative or not; and
- Poly-Tech to receive cost plus profit margin payments for sourcing certain raw materials, with a guarantee that if Composite Resources obtains services or products from other vendors, the commission rate or profit margin on remaining items will be adjusted so that Poly-Tech receives the same “overall profits” as if it provided all the services and products related to the Combat Tourniquets.

Id. These special remunerations, continuing commissions, and profit guarantees were “to continue [even] if for any reason the regular contract is discontinued.”

As a matter of law, partial summary judgment should be affirmed. On June 28, 2019, Appellant responded to Requests for Admission and admitted the following facts, to which it is conclusively bound:

- *Exhibit A, is a genuine copy of the June 1, 2005 Sales Representative Agreement.*
- *The June 1, 2005 Sales Representative Agreement attached to the Complaint is the most recent written agreement executed between Poly-Tech Industrial and Composite Resources, Inc. which governs or governed the rights and obligations of Poly-Tech with regard to Combat Application Tourniquets under the special account identified with Phil Durango, LLC.;*

[R. pp. 547 & 551, Plts. PSJ Mot., Ex. E (Composite’s Answers to Poly-Tech’s First Set of Requests Admit)].

On July 28, 2019, Composite Resources answered Poly-Tech’s First Set of Interrogatories [See R. pp. 564-568, Plts. PSJ Mot. Ex., G]. When asked to “[i]dentify and describe the nature and operational terms of any agreements or modifications between Composite Resources and Poly-Tech and/or Cedrone from 2000 forward in time, including the Agreement, dated June 1, 2005, at issue in this case”, Composite Resources answered that the 2005 Agreement “sets forth ‘the nature and operational terms.’” [See R. p. 565, Plts. Mot. PSJ, Ex. G, Interrogatory Answer #10 at 4]. Therefore, Composite Resources should be barred from attempting to state other facts to try and create a false factual issue to vacate partial summary judgment.

Appellant hinges its entire appeal on the happenstance of the caption “Phil Durango, L.L.C.” as the heading on Page 11 of the 2005 Agreement under which the continuing tourniquet product commissions, and profit obligations are set forth. Phil Durango, LLC was merely the initial name for the product rights holder for the Combat Tourniquet. [R. pp. 674, 678-680, May 18, 2002 Suppl Memo, 5-7, citing USPTO Office Combat Application Tourniquet Trademark index: (<https://tmsearch.uspto.gov/bin/showfield?f=doc&state=4806:xua51x.5.2>)].

Under the rules for contract construction, a court interprets terms as of the time of the contract and against the background of the entire agreement and its general purpose. In looking at the broader contract, subsequent maneuvers such as buying the intellectual property from Phil

Durango, LLC and moving the project under a different stand-alone subsidiary, does not change the fact that the Combat Tourniquet production “project continues.” (which is the general purpose of this subsection of the long-standing 2005 Agreement). The appropriateness of construing the words “Phil Durango, LLC” as the Product rights holder for Combat Tourniquets is validated by the absurdity Composite Resources’ position. Under Composite Resources’ rationale, it can shirk the obligations it accepted in order to become involved in the project by becoming more deeply involved in the project. Moreover, in determining the intent of the parties here from reviewing the whole agreement, Annex B’s express focus on “*all* the Products the Company [Composite Resources] handles” is insightful. [R. p. 72, 2005 Agreement, Annex B, Products, p. 9]. It is undisputed that the Combat Tourniquets are still among the products “handled” by Appellant, and that the production/sale of Combat Tourniquets has continued unabated.¹³ This does not change the general purpose of these provisions of the 2005 Agreement -- as set forth in the commission formula for GraviGate products, and in the commission formula for the Combat Tourniquet products – that payments continue even after the sales relationship is discontinued pursuant to the express special exception on Page 11. This is strongly and expressly punctuated by the fact that the 2005 Agreement literally calls for payments to continue after the death of Poly-Tech’s principal, Dan Cedrone, if the project of selling Combat Tourniquets is ongoing. (“... and paid to the estate of Daniel P. Cedrone for as long as the project continues.”). [R. p. 74, 2005 Agreement, p. 11].

Another applicable rule of contract construction is that the same provision should be applied consistently across the same subject matter. Composite Resources’ failure to be

¹³ Accepting Appellant’s argument would be equivalent to cancelling all the season ticket holder’s rights because the Washington D.C. Football Team changed its name to the Washington Commanders and is now under new ownership.

consistent is another reason to discard its attempts to generate material ambiguity. For example, after the name Phil Durango was no longer associated with the project, Composite Resources argues that there were no more compensable sales (despite its ever-increasing Combat Tourniquet sales rate). However, this Phil Durango LLC/Combat Tourniquet special subsection, (2005 Agreement, page 11) also covers the manufacturing (not just sales) of the Combat Tourniquets. Specifically, Poly-Tech is the raw materials supplier for the manufacturing of all the Combat Tourniquets regardless of how they are ultimately sold. ("Raw materials to be purchased from Polytech: ...") *Id.* at 11. Internal consistency for this subsection of the 2005 Agreement does not support Appellant's suggested interpretation. This self-contradiction is further revealed by reviewing the Combat Tourniquet subsection in conjunction with the other special subsection in Section C of Annex C, related to "GraviGate Products". Under this subsection, the heading refers to "GraviGate Products", but the body of this subsection includes, in addition, GraviBar and Gravi-T Products. This subsection also provides for the commission payments to continue "if for any reason the regular contract is discontinued and paid to the estate of Daniel P Cedrone for as long as the product line continues." To accept Appellant's position would necessarily mean that if the GraviGate Products (mentioned in the subsection heading) were discontinued, then Composite Resources could continue manufacturing and selling the GraviBar and Gravi-T Products without paying Poly-Tech its commissions. Such an interpretation should be rejected as a matter of law. Finally, Appellant's self-serving fixation with the subsection caption is inconsistent with the common neutralization of captions and headings in contracts and statutes generally. See, e.g., S.C. Code Ann. § 2-13-175 (a "caption which immediately follows the section number of any section of the Code of Laws ... must not be used to construe the section more broadly or narrowly than the text of the section would indicate.").

Similarly, the use of the word "account" in the 2005 Agreement also does not drive the analysis to the conclusion Appellant seeks. This is especially true in light of the surrounding context expressly requiring "Commission for this product is to continue ... as long as the product line continues" and "Commission for this account is to continue ... as long as the project continues." [R. p. 74, 2005 Agreement Annex C, Section C, p. 11]. For example, the use of the word "this" in conjunction with account ("this account... is to continue... for as long as the project continues") also requires the consideration of the surrounding language.¹⁴ In construing these provisions in light of the whole contract and its discernable purpose, payments are unambiguously tied to the continuation of the product line and the continuation of the project. The owner of product-rights and the manufacturing/sale of products are necessarily interconnected. So, whether the product is known by reference to the owner, or the owner is known by reference to the product is legally irrelevant. If the owner of the intellectual property that controls the continuation of the project evolves, a different name may be associated with the product, but if sales of the products continue (whether GraviGate or tourniquets), then payments are to continue according to the plain language of the long-standing 2005 Agreement as a whole and according to the general purpose apparent therein.

Appellant's approach of finely parsing single words or phrases was poignantly rejected with reference to the Restatement (Second) of Contracts, by the West Virginia Supreme Court in the case of *Fraternal Ord. of Police, Lodge No. 69 v. City of Fairmont*, 196 W. Va. 97, 468 S.E.2d 712 (1996) (concerning the interpretation of wage and benefit agreement). There the court held:

¹⁴ Virtually every motion filed in any litigation follows the title with "hereinafter this motion" (emphasis added). Subsequent references to "this motion" are not references simply to the title, but are references to the substance of the entire motion.

The defendants contended ... that the concluding language “effective the first day of the fiscal year beginning immediately after execution of this agreement” is sufficient to limit the pay increase to one year because it speaks only to one year and not “years.” This argument has the shrill ring of desperation. The defendants' mental gymnastics are indeed nimble, but an accepted canon of construction forbids the balkanization of contracts for interpretive purposes. *See Restatement (Second) of Contracts* § 202 cmt. d at 88 (1981) (explaining that “[w]here the whole can be read to give significance to each part, that reading is preferred”). Here, when the phrase “effective the first day of the fiscal year beginning immediately after execution of this agreement” is read in the full context of the sentence, the language is not ambiguous at all. ...

The defendants have presented us with an artful reading of the agreement, but that reading belies the plain meaning of the contract as a whole. The agreement is clear, and lengthy judicial proceedings do not make it any clearer.

Id. at 103, S.E.2d at 718. This is in accord with South Carolina law. *McGill v. Moore*, 381 S.C. 179, 185, 672 S.E.2d 571, 574 (2009) (affirming denial of specific performance) (“[a] contract is read as a whole document so that one may not create an ambiguity by pointing out a single sentence or clause.”); *Schulmeyer v. State Farm Fire & Cas. Co.*, 353 S.C. 491, 495, 579 S.E.2d 132, 134 (2003) (“one may not, by pointing out a single sentence or clause, create an ambiguity”).

An axiom in the study of law is that “hard facts make bad law.” *Schiavo ex rel. Schindler v. Schiavo*, 404 F.3d 1270, 1271 (11th Cir. 2005). Although this Business Court case does not present the kind of “hard facts” that legal limitations in a personal injury case might, this court should resist being swept away by the injection of unrelated points by Appellant in the analysis of the unambiguous contractual obligations. Earlier this year, the South Carolina Supreme Court reiterated this caveat with regard to unambiguous interpretation of the State uninsured motorist statute in *Connelly v. Main St. Am. Grp.*, 439 S.C. 81, 886 S.E.2d 196 (2023) (reversing the Court of Appeals and finding language unambiguous), where it stated:

We decline the invitation to rewrite the statute or construe it in a manner manifestly at odds with its plain meaning. ... For the courts to set about to

[change the requirements of the UM statute themselves] would inevitably lead to the establishment of a mischievous precedent, and to great uncertainty and confusion in the determination of future cases of a similar nature. It is needless to describe the effects of such a condition of things in order to appreciate the necessity of avoiding it. (internal citation and quotation marks omitted)).

This case presents a straightforward question of the correct interpretation of the UM statute our holding today arguably does not comport with equity and one's sense of fairness. We state the obvious: we are a court, not a legislative body. We are thus constrained by our judicial role to interpret the law as written and not to create exceptions to plainly-worded statutes. That is the province of the legislature alone, and a boundary we do not cross, even in sympathetic situations such as this.

439 S.C. at 96-97, 886 S.E.2d at 204 (2023).

Cases from outside of South Carolina are not binding on this court, but they may be persuasive. Often the more they are on all fours with the case at hand, the more insightful. Under that measure, the case of *Reyes v. Metromedia Software, Inc.*, 840 F. Supp. 2d 752 (S.D.N.Y. 2012) is very instructive in that it addresses essentially identical issues. In *Reyes*, the federal court had before it a contract that required the payment of commissions for an additional seven years after the termination of the sales representative agreement. Plaintiff moved for partial summary judgment seeking declaration of entitlement to post-termination commission payments under terms of contract and that employer breached those terms. 840 F. Supp. 2d at 753-54. In *Reyes*, a “separate section” of the agreement “provided that if the contract were ‘terminated for any reason whatsoever ... commissions will be paid to [Reyes] pursuant to Section 2(a)(i) above for a period of seven (7) years from the date of such termination.’” *Id.*

The Court noted in its decision that:

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